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Vacant. To be demolished.

The Franklin Grocery Company Building is an intact
example of a turn-of-the-century, small-scale
commercial building. Built about 1892, the building is
a contributing element in the West Franklin historic
district, a residential and commercial neighborhood
on the west side of the city of Franklin.
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HISTORICAL INFORMATION

Physical History

Date of Erection: The Franklin Grocery Company Building was erected

circa 1892, the year the property was purchased by John and Seth Shepard.

Architect: Unknown

Original and Subsequent Owners: References are to deeds and other

documents in the office of the Registry of Deeds and the Registry of Probate, Merrimack
County Administration Building, Concord, New Hampshire.

1877

1884

1886

1894

1895

1909

1935

1938

1940

1942

Deed, 24 September 1877, William and Rozilla Thompson to the
Winnepeseogee Paper Company.

Deed, 14 May 1884, Book 268, p. 324. William Thompson to Martha M.
Grace.

Will, 13 April 1886, Probate Record # 12317. Martha M. Grace to George
A. Grace.

Deed, 1 February 1892, Book 313, p. 139. George A. and Susan Grace
to John F. Shepard and Seth B. Shepard.

Deed, 5 September 1895, Book 317, p. 98. Winnepeseogee Paper
Company to Susan Grace.

Deed, 19 November 1909, Book 390, p. 90. Susan E. Grace to Charles
Ford, Ada E. Sanborn and Seth Shepard.

Deed, 29 July 1935, Book 566, p. 135. Robinson Shepard, Mary Shepard
Wiley and Harry Wiley to John Shepard.

Will, 16 December 1938, Probate Record #41018. Seth Shepard to John
Shepard, Robinson Shepard, and Mary Shepard Wiley.

Deed, 1 February 1940, Book 573, p. 562. Ada E. Sanborn to John
Shepard. .

Deed, 6 April 1942, Book 591, p. 477. The Estate of Charles T. Ford to
Jennie Ford.



FRANKLIN GROCERY COMPANY BUILDING
HABS NO. NH-215 (PAGE3)

1946 Deed, 22 April 1946, Book 626, p. 323. Jennie F. Ford to John Shepard.
1948 Deed, 30 April 1948, Book 626, p. 324. John Shepard to Arthur White.
1948 Deed, 30 April 1948, Book 626, p. 325. Arthur White to John Shepard,
establishing joint ownership.
1948 Deed, 1 July 1948, Book 649, p. 411. John S. and Ruth Shepard to
Raymond Lachance.
1957 Deed, 30 August 1857, Book 816, p. 21. Raymond Lachance to Alberta
. and Arnold Lachance.
1968 Deed, 29 March 1968, Book 1024, p. 353. Alberta Lachance to Bi-Mor
Realty.
1989 Deed, 1 June 1989, Book 1792, p. 753. Bi-Mor Realty to Franklin Area
Community Land Trust.
4. 7 Builder, Contractor, Suppliers: Unknown
5. Original Plans and Construction: No documentary information on the

original appearance of the building has been Iocated

6. Alterations and Additions: The building was built to house a commercial
establishment on the ground floor and a residential apartment in the upper story. The
single apartment was subsequently divided into two apartments after the turn of the
century. -

B. Historical Context

The town of Franklin was incorporated in December 1828 from adjoining portions of four
towns (Salisbury, Andover, Sanbornton and Northfield), largely at the behest of those
wanting to exploit more fully the manufacturing potential present along the lower
Pemigewasset and Winnepesaukee rivers and tributaries thereto (Hurd 1885:310-311).

At the time of incorporation, the principal village then in existence was located on the
west bank of the Pemigewasset. This small community had risen around the activities
of Ebenezer Eastman, who after coming to this area from Concord in [797 established
a dam and sawmill on Chance Pond Brook, opened a tavern, and commissioned
construction of a toll bridge across the Pemigewasset on the road to Sanbornton and
Northfield in 1802 (Hurd 1885:310; Nadeau 1978: 8). At the time, the village was part of
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the town of Salisbury, and was called variously Pemigewasset or "East Village®, the
latter due to its location within that town (Farmer & Moore 1823:232). In 1824, four years
before the creation of the town of Franklin, the village of Pemigewasset boasted a
meetinghouse, two stores, a tavern, post office, tannery , several cooper shops and a
blacksmith shop. The village’s industrial activity was concentrated primarily along
Chance Pond brook, which flowed from the "great pond in Andover" (Webster Lake)
southeast to the Pemigewasset a short distance above what is now Webster Street.
Along the brook were, in 1824, three sawmills, a grist mill, and a blacksmith shop "with
trip-hammers" as well as one unspecified "manufacturing establishment” (McClintock
i880:133).

The major industrial development of Franklin ultimately centered on an area to the east,
known as Franklin Falls, on the Winnepesaukee, bringing with it a concentration of
commercial and residential activity. However, the village on the Pemigewasset, also
known as "West Village" and Frankliin, remained a distinct and viable community
through the ISth century Not only did it have its own, nearby mill privileges, but also
the Boston & Maine railroad, which extended its line north to the village in 1846; in
addition, due to its location at a major river crossing, it was able to reap economic
benefits from passing travelers. In 1855, the community called Franklin still remained the
town’'s “principal village", with two hotels, seven stores, two meetinghouses
(Congregationalist and Christian Baptist), a fire house, and an academy (McClintock
1880:133). lIts industrial base, as of 1858, included a tanney, forge, foundry, grist mill and
wool carding mill (Walling 1858).

By 1880, fourteen firms were listed with premises along Chance Pond Brook, including
a sawmill, grist mill, iron foundry, brickmaker, carriage manufacturer, knitting machine
factory, needle factory, and wool dyer (McClintock 1880: 137-138). Although the village
never boasted the rows of attached brick commercial buildings which were built along
Central Street in Franklin Falls, it did have several detached "blocks" from which local
merchants purveyed goods and services, such as the brick Pike's Block, Messer’s
Block, and the Sturtevant Block(Sanborn 1884; Hurd 1892). From such premises, as well
as from small building containing both shop areas and residences, the merchants of
Franklin village offered such items as boots and shoes, harness and wagon robes,
groceries and "India goods", hardware, furniture, and the all-encompassing "general
merchandise” (McClintock 1880:140).

As Franklin Falls became more heavily industrialized, and urbanized in the later I19th
century, Franklin retained its village character and informal, linear plan along Main
Street. Manufacturing tended to cluster in its traditional location along Chance Pond
Brook toward the north end of the village, and the south end was primarily residential;
between and within these areas, however, the mingling of function (housing, religion,
commerce, public services) persisted, although most of the commercial activity was
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oriented around the west end of the bridge and north to Webster Street (Sanborn 1884,
1892).

Franklin was incorporated as a city in 1894; this change in municipal status was reflected
in the village primarily by its designation as "West Franklin". In the 20th century, with
the rest of the city, West Franklin experienced industrial and population decline as
manufacturers closed or relocated their operations elsewhere. In April 1931, the old
covered bridge across the Pemigewasset, known as the Republican bridge and built
in 1839 by Boston John Clark to replace the earlier structure, was dismantled, its timber
removed by the city for other uses, and the stone of its piers laid along the riverbanks
as riprap. The new bridge, erected by the Eastern States Bridge Company of York, PA
and Concord, was named the Daniel Webster bridge by vote of the city council (Franklin
Journal Transcript, 16 April 1931, 30 April 193I; City of Franklin, 1930).

The Franklin Grocery Company building was constructed for John and Seth Shepard
after their purchase of the land from George and Sarah Grace in 18392. John Shepard,
a former employee of the D.S. Gilchrist general store, had opened his own grocery and
provision store on Franklin Street in 1881. In 1886 he was joined in partnership with his
brother Seth to form Shepard Brothers (Shepard 1957:517). Shepard Grocery
Company opened Franklin’s first wholesale store in 1895, occupying a former skating
rink on Canal Street in Frankiin Falls (Shepard 1957:572).

The Franklin Grocery Company building replaced an earlier 1 1/2story office building
that stood on the lot (Sanborn 1892). The earliest tenant of the new building mentioned
in the city directories was the company of D.S. Gilchrist and Son who occupied 1 S.
Main Street in 1902 (Goss 1902). Between 1902 and 1912, the Shepard Brothers
opened a second business, the Franklin Grocery Company, in the building's retail
space. Charles Ford was the resident manager, living in the upstairs apartment (Union
Pub. Co. 1912). Although still working as manager, Ford was no longer in residence
at that address in 1914, and by 1932, the second story apartment had been divided into
two rental units (Manning 1932; Union Pub. Co. 1914). The Franklin Grocery Company
occupied 1 S. Main Street into the 1940s (Manning 1942).

At some point after 1895, Seth Shepard acquired full interest in the business, and after
his death in 1938 his son, John S., became sole owner of 1 S. Main Street. The
property passed out of the Shepard family in 1948 when John S. Shepard sold the
building to Raymond Lachance. Raymond Lachance sold the property to Alberta and
Arnold Lachance in 1957. Owner occupancy of the first floor was terminated in 1957
when Bi-Mor Realty acquired the property from Alberta Lachance. Bi-Mor Realty served
as landlord until the property was purchased by the Franklin Area Community Land
Trust in 1989. The building has been vacant since that time.
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Il. ARCHITECTURAL INFORMATION

A. General Statement

1. Architectural Character: The Franklin Grocery Company building is a free-
~ standing, mixed-use structure. Its Victorian character is achieved by the Stick Style
elements applied to the parapetted false front and by the turned elements applied to
the second-story of the building’s facade and included in the balustrade of the side
porch.

2. Condition of Fabric: The building is in fair condition. It has been vacant
for several years and during that time regular maintenance work has not been
performed.

B. Description of Exterior

1. Overall Dimensions: The two story building is long and narrow, measuring
21 feet by 68 feet. A small shed is attached to the northwest (rear) corner of the
building.

2. Foundations: The building rests on a brick foundation with a rubble stone
base. A full basement with concrete floor is partitioned by a brick wall, located in front
of the chimney toward the rear of the block.

3. Walls: The exterior walls are sheathed with viny! siding with the exception
‘of the facade (east elevation) which retains its original clapboard facing. A turned
element is applied to the center of the facade wall, separating the windows at the
second story. Turned elements also act as cornerboards from the roofline to the first
story. Wide, corner pilasters continue to the ground.

4. Structural Systems: The building is framed with circular sawn, dimensional
lumber.
5. Porches, Stoops, etc.: The primary entrance to the first story commercial

space is recessed in the center of the facade between two large, plate glass display
windows. The entryway has narrow, tongue-in-groove flooring and a beaded board
ceiling. Three brick steps leading up to the entrance were rebuilt in 1989.

Access to the second story apartments is gained via a flight of wooden stairs set
perpendicular to the south wall of the building. From a landing, three steps lead up to
the level of the apartment doors. A shallow, asphalt-shingled hipped roof, supported
on both square and turned posts, shelters the staircase and landing. The Victorian
character of the porch is evinced by the turned newels and posts at the base of the
stairs and by the frieze of short, turned spindles encircling the eaves of the porch roof.
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The porch was lengthened at the second story level when the single apartment was
divided into two units. The shed-roofed porch extension, supported on iron pipe
braces, rises three steps from the landing to stretch nearly the length of the south wall.
The unadorned, square posts and matchstick balustrade of the porch extension exhibit
much less ornamental detail than the original construction. A second tier of matchstick
balustrade was added to the top of the baluster across the entire porch. This probably
occurred in recent years in order to meet changing building code requirements. The
length of the combined porch has tongue-in-groove flooring and beaded, tongue-in-
groove ceiling. _

6. Chimneys: The building has two interior, brick chimneys. The first is
located on the south roof slope toward the front of the building, and the second is
located on the ridge toward the rear. The forward chimney services only the second
floor apartments. .

7. Openings:

a. Doorways and Doors: The main entrance to the first story is set in a
recessed entryway framed by plate glass, display windows. The wooden door has a
large glass pane in the upper portion and a modern, bean-shaped thumb latch. Alarge
glass transom is found above the door.

The surrounds of the two apartment entrances have been obscured by the application
of vinyl siding. The openings themselves are filled with wooden, four panel doors one
with modern hardware and the other with a polished wood knob set in a brass
escutcheon plate.

b. Windows: Window openings are regularly spaced along the east and
north elevations at the second story level. Three second-story window openings are
clustered toward the front of the south wall, and a single opening is found in the rear
elevation. All of these openings are filled with 2/1double-hung sash. 2/1windows are
also found in the first story side walls toward the rear of the building. The remainder
of the openings in the first story side walls are filled by small, modern, single-light fixed
sash. Large, plate-glass display windows frame the entrance in the facade. The
second-story windows in the facade have simple surrounds with narrow projecting
lintels. The remainder of the window surrounds have been obscured by the application
of vinyl siding.

8. Roof:
a. Shape: The shallowly-pitched, roof of the Franklin'Grocery Company

building is sheathed with asphalt shingles. The roof terminates in a shallow hip at the
west end.



FRANKLIN GROCERY COMPANY BUILDING
HABS NO. NH-219 (PAGES )

b. Cornice, Eaves: A steeply gabled, parapetted false front rises above
the roofline, highlighting the facade. Brackets adorn the frieze below the wide eaves
of the gable peak. Three turned elements attached to the facade wall connect the frieze
to fan-like lunettes placed just above the natural roofiine. Above the facade entry is a
wide dentil frieze with pilasters at the side and rear corners of the plate glass display
windows. The side and rear eaves of the building are unadorned.

c. Dormers, Cupolas, Towers: None present.
C. Description of Interior

1. Floor Plans: See sketch floor plans for existing room arrangements. The
first story is divided into a large front retail area and a rear work/office space. The
second story was originally a single, three room apartment. In the early twentieth
century, the front room was blocked off from the rear two to create two residences. The
doorway between the front and middle rooms has been boarded up from the front.

2. Stairways: Crude wooden stairs lead to the basement from the rear room
of the first story. There is no interior access between the first and second floors.

3. Flooring: The building’s first story retains narrow tongue-in-groove
flooring. Both of the second story apartments have wider hardwood flooring.

4. Wall and Ceiling Finish: The walls of the front section of the first floor are
finished with full-height, beaded wainscoting, and ornamental pressed tin covers the
ceiling. In the rear room beaded board has been applied to the ceiling as well as the
walls.

The walls of the rear apartment on the second floor are finished with beaded
wainscoting, between a molded chairrail and baseboard. The walls above the chairrail
and the ceilings are stuccoed. By contrast, the walls of the front apartment have
suffered considerable alterations in recent years with wallpaper, rough planks and
bricks applied to the surfaces. The main room of this apartment does retain the original
pressed tin ceiling, which has received a highly elaborate and intricate paint job in
recent years. Beaded wainscoting and a chairrail are intact in the hallway and front
closet.

5. Openings:

a. Doorways and Doors: The doorways of the first story are framed by
plain plank surrounds. . The doors between the two rooms and at the rear of the
building are wide, four and five panel wooden doors with porcelain knobs set in cast,
brass escutcheon plates. The doorways inside the second story apartments feature
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stepped, molded lintels and flat surrounds. The original four-panel wooden doors retain
their brass and porcelain knobs set in escutcheon plates cast with highly decorative
floral and geometric patterns.

b. Windows: The windows of the first story are enclosed by plain plank
surrounds. The original window surrounds in the front apartment of the second story
have been obscured by the application of new wall finishes. However, the rear
apartment retains the original frames with stepped, molded lintels.

B. Decorative Features and Trim: As suggested in the descriptions of
features above, the building retains a variety of decorative stock elements commonly
used to evoke vernacular Victorian character. Among these are the pressed metal -
ceilings in the store front and front apartment, the first floor radiator with cast floral top
vent, and door hardware throughout the building decorated with floral and geometric
designs. A built-in closet in the northwest corner of the main room of the front
apartment is constructed of vertical, beaded wainscoting and has a small, cast brass
latch. Stepped, molded lintels are also retained over the windows and doorways of the
rear apartment as well as over several doorways of the front apartment.

7. Mechanical Equipment:

a. Heating: In the first story, a cast iron radiator, with a floral patterned
top vent, is located at the rear of the retail area, and a stove thimble is found in the
chimney behind the partition. A circa 1950s duo-therm heater is placed in front of the
radiator in the front room. Stove thimbles, now covered up, in each room of the rear
apartment, provided that residence with heat. Stove thimble may have been found in
the front apartment as well, but they have been hidden by the new wall finishes. No
modern heating mechanisms are present in either second-story apartment.

b. Lighting: Light cords are suspended on chains from the ceiling of the
first story and from the center medallion of the tin ceiling in the front apartment. No
other original lighting fixtures are apparent, although many of the baseboard electrical
sockets in the rear apartment have streamlined plastic covers.

c. Plumbing: No original plumbing fixtures remain.
D. Site

1. General Setting and Orientation: The Franklin Grocery Company building
is located on the west side of South Main Street opposite the junction with Central
Street and the west end of the Daniel Webster Bridge in the former village of West
Franklin. The surrounding commercial and residential, nineteenth century buildings
reaffirm the character of the early industrial village.
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2. Landscape Design: The Franklin Grocery Company property has no
formal landscaping. The building is set at the front of the narrow lot at the edge of the
sidewalk. ltis set close to the neighboring building on the north, separated only by a
small grassy strip. A parking lot occupies the adjacent lot to the south separating the
Franklin Grocery Company from its southern neighbor.

3. Outbuildings: A frame carriage barn is located behind the building. This
was originally associated with the two-story dwelling that stood next to the Franklin
Grocery Company building where the parking lot is now. The barn was converted into
apartments in the early twentieth century, about the same time that the apartment above
the Franklin Grocery Company was split into two residences.
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IV.  PROJECT INFORMATION

The Franklin Grocery Company building was recorded in October 1991, by the Cultural
Resource Group of Louis Berger & Associates, Inc., East Orange, New Jersey, for the
New Hampshire Department of Transportation, Concord, New Hampshire. The
documentation was undertaken pursuant to a Memorandum of Agreement between the
Federal Highway Administration, the New Hampshire Department of Transportation, and
the Advisory Council on Historic Preservation. The project for which the MOA has been
prepared is the replacement of the Daniel Webster Bridge over the Pemigewasset River
and redesign at the intersection of Central Street with Main Street (U.S. Route 3). The
project team included: Martha H. Bowers, Project Coordinator; Elizabeth Rosin,
Architectural Historian; and Rob Tucher, Photographer.
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SECOND FLOOR PLAN
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